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a printing press. There is a civil hospital in the town, with-
a branch dispensary. . .

Mﬁchhiwﬁra..——Town in_the Samrila faksil of Ludhiina
District, Punjab, situated in 30° 55’ N. and 76° 12" E., 6 miles
from Samrila and 27 from Ludhiina town. Population (1901),
5,588. It has a small sugar industry, and was the scene of
Humiyin’s defeat of the Afghiins in 1555. The municipality
was created in 1867. The income and expenditure during
the ten years ending 19o2-3 averaged Rs. 4,900. In 1903-4
the income was Rs. 4,200, chiefly derived from octroi ; and the
expenditure was Rs. 5,100. The town has a Government dis-
pensary, and the municipality maintains a vernacular middle
school.

Raikot (Rackot).—Town in the Jagraon Zahst/ of Ludbiina
District, Punjab, situated in 30° 39’ N. and 75° 36’ E., 27 miles
from Ludhiina town. Population (1g901), 10,131. In the
seventeenth century it was made the capital of the Rais of
Raikot, whose palaces are still standing ; but it declined rapidly
after their overthrow, and is now of no commercial importance.
The municipality was created in 1867. The income during
the ten years ending xgoz-3 averaged Rs. 6,800, and the
expenditure Rs. 6,500. In 1903—4 the income was Rs. 7,700,
chiefly derived from octroi ; and the expenditure was Rs. 7,400.
It possesses a vemacular high middle school maintained by
the municipality, and a Govemment dispensary.

Sunet.—Ruins in the District and #Ze%sz/ of Ludhiina,
Punjab, situated in 30° 53’ N. and 75° 50’ E, 3 miles south-
west of Ludhifina town. A large mound clearly marks the
ancient site of an important city. Cunningham concludes
from the coins here discovered that the town of Sunet must
have been in existence before the Christian era, and that it
continued to flourish during the whole period of the Indo-
Scythians and of their successors who used Sassanian types,
down to the time of Samanta Deva, the Brihman king of
Kibul or Ohind. On the other hand, from the absence
of coins of the Tomar Rajis of Delhi and of the Muham-
madan dynasties, it is inferred that Sunet was destroyed during
the invasions of Mahmid Ghazni, and never reoccupied.

[ Archacological Survey Reports, vol. xiv, p. 65.]

. Ferozepore District (F¥rogpur).—District in the Jullundur Boun-
Divisicn of the Pun]ab lying between 29° 55" and 31° ¢ N, dasies, con-

7 tlon,

and 7-° 52’ and 75° 26’ ., with an area of 4,302 square miles. 3od river
On the north-east and norti:-west, the Sutlej forms the boundary system.
separating the District frorx Jullundur and the Kapirthala
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State, and, after its confluence with the Beis, from the Districts
of Lahore and Montgomery. On the south-west and south, it
is bounded by the States of Bahawalpur and Bikaner, and by
Hissar District ; on the south-east, by the Faridkot State, and
by detached pieces of territory belonging to Patifila and Nabha;
and on the east by the District of Ludhiana. Faridkot State
lies across the centre of the District, extending from the south-
eastern border to within a few miles of the Sutlej on the north-
west. A detached area forming a part of the Moga fa/s#/ lies
east of the Faridkot State. The District consists of a flat, allu-
vial plain, divided into three broad plateaux by two broken and
shelving banks which mark ancient courses of the Sutlej. The
upper bank, which crosses the District about 35 miles east of the -
present stream, is from 15 to. 20 feet high ; and the river seems:
to bave run beneath it until 350 or 400 years ago, when its
junction with the Befis lay near Multan. In the second half
of the eighteenth century the river ran under part of the lower
bank and, in its changes from this to its present bed, has cut
out two or three channels, now entirely dry, the most important
of which, the Sukhar Nai, runs in a tortuous course east and
west. The volume of water in the Sutlej has sensibly dimin-
ished since the opening of the Sirhind Canal, and during the
cold season it is easily fordable everywhere above its confluence
with the Beas ; below the confluence the stream is about 1,000
yards wide in the cold season, swelling to 2 or 3 miles in time
of flood. The country is well wooded in its northern half, but
very bare in the south ; it is absolutely without hili or eminence
of any description, even rock and stone being unknown.

There is nothing of geological interest in the District, which
is situated entirely on the alluvium. In the north the spon-
taneous vegetation is that of the Central Punjab, in the south
that of the desert, while in the Fizilka subdivision several
species . of the Western Punjab, more particularly saltworts
yielding sajfi (barilla), are abundant. Trees are rare, except
where planted ; but the 7134 or shisham (Dalbergia Sissoo) is
common on islands in the Sutlej. Along the banks of that
river there are large brakes (locally called delas) of tall grasses
(Saccharum, Andropogon, &c.) mixed with tamarisk, which
are used for thatching, brush-making, and basket-weaving,
also miiny (used for cordage) and Rkas-kkas (scented roots
employed for screens, &c.).

Wolves are the only beasts of prey now found, and they
are by no means common ; but until the middle of the nine-
teenth century tigers were found on the banks of the Sutlej.
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Hog abound,.and ‘ravine deer’ (Indian gazelle) and antelope
are fairly plentiful,

The climate does not differ from that of the Punjab plains Climate
generally, except that Ferozepore is proverbial for its dust- ;‘;‘;::‘;‘
storms. Owing to the dryness of its climate, the city and
cantonment of Ferozepore and the upland plains are ex-
ceptionally healthy; but the riverain tract is malarious in
the extreme.

The annual rainfall varies from 11 inches at Muktsar to Rainfall.
20 at Zira ; of the rain at the latter place 17 inches fall in
the summer months and 2 in the winter. The rainfall is very
uncertain : the greatest amount received in any year between
1881 and 1903 was 25 inches at Ferozepore in 1882, and in
four of the last twenty years one place or another has received
absolutely no rain. An unusually heavy flood came down the
Sutlej in August, 1900, and the level then rose 3 feet above
the highest on record, a part of the town of Ferozepore being
washed away.

The earliest known rulers appear to have been the Ponwir History
Rajputs, one of whose capitals may have been Janer, a place :‘;gmeo‘
apparently mentioned by Al Baihaki as Hajnir on the route jogy.
from Meerut to Lahore, About the time of the first Muham-
madan invasions a colony of Bhatti Rijputs from Jaisalmer
settled in the neighbourhood of Muktsar, and the Manj, a
branch of them, ousted the Ponwars and became- converts
to Islim about 1288. The great Jat tribes—Dhaliwals, Gils,
and others—which now people the District, began to appear
200 years after the Bhattis. About 1370 the fort of Feroze-
pore was built by Firoz Shah III, and included in his new
government of Sirhind. Up to a comparatively recent date
it seems probable, as tradition avers, that the District was
richly cultivated, and deserted sites and ruined wells in the
tract bordering on the older course of the Sutlej bear witness
to the former presence of a numerous population. Though
no date can be absolutely determined for this epoch of pro-
sperity, there are some grounds for the belief that the Sutlej
flowed east of Ferozepore fort in the time of Akbar; for the
Atn-i-Akbari describes it as the capital of a large tract attached
to the province of Multin, and not to Sirhind, as would pro- .
bably have been the case had the river then run in its modern
course. The shifting of the river from which the tract derived
its fertility, and the ravages of war, were doubtless the chief
causes of its decline. This probably commenced before the
end of the sixteenth century, and in another hundred years
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the country presented the appearance of a desert. About the
end of the sixteenth century the Sidhu Jats, from whom
the Phalkian Rijas are descended, made their appearance;
and in the middle of the seventeenth century most of the
Jat tribes were converted to Sikhism by Har Rai, the seventh |
Gura. In 1705 the tenth Guri, Govind Singh, in his ﬂxght :
from Chamkaur, was defeated with great loss at Muktsar;
in 1715 Nawab Isa Khan, a Manj chief, who fifteen years
before had built the fort of Kot Isa Khin, rebelled against
the imperial authorities and was defeated and killed; and
about the same time the Dogars, a wild, predatory clan which . .
claims descent from the Chauhin Rajputs, settled near |
Pakpattan, and gradually spread up the. Sutlej valley, finding..;
none to oppose them, as the scattered Bhatti- mm{, T
occupied it retired before the new colonists. At length, in. .
1740, according to tradition, they reached Ferozepore, which
was then included in a district called the Lakha Jungle in '
charge of an imperial officer stationed at Kasir. Three of
these officials in succession were murdered by the Dogars,
who seem to have had matters much their own way uptil
the Sikh power arose. 3
In 1763 the Bhangl confederacy, one of the gteat Sikh
sections, attacked and conquered Ferozepore under their famous .
leader, Giijar Singh, who made over the newly acquired terri- -
tory to his nephew, Gurbakhsh Singh. The young Sikh chieftain -
rebuilt the fort and consolidated his power on the Sutlej, but
spent most of his time in other portions of the province. In.
1792, when he seems to have divided his estates with his
family, Ferozepore fell to Dhanna Singh, his second son.
Attacked by the Dogars, by the Pathins of Kasir, and by
the neighbouring principality of Raikot, the new ruler lost ;
his territories piece by piece, but was still in possession of :
Ferozepore itself when Ranjit Singh crossed the Sutlej in 1808, .
and threatened to absorb all the minor principalities which
lay between his domain and the British frontier. But the
British Government, established at Delhi since 1803, intervened
with an offer of protection to all the Cis-SuTLE] STATES; and .
Dhanna Singh gladly availed himself of the promised aid, being
one of the first chieftains who accepted British protection and
control. Ranjit Singh, seeing the British ready to support
their rights, at once ceased to interfere with the minor States,
and Dhanna Singh retained unmolested the remnant of his
dominions until his death in 1818. He left no son, but his
widow succeeded to the principality during her lifetime ; and
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on her death in 1835, the territory escheated to the British
Government, under the conditions of the arrangement effected
in 1809. The political importance ‘of Ferozepore had been
already recognized, and an officer was at once deputed to take
possession of the new post. After the boundary had been
carefully determined, the District was made over for a while
to a native official; but it soon became desirable to make
Ferozepore.the permanent seat of a European Political officer.
In 1839 Sir Henry (then Captain) Lawrence took charge of
the station, which formed at that time the advanced outpost
of British India in the direction of the Sikh power. Early
accounts represent the country as a dreary and desert plain,
where rain seldom fell and dust-storms never ceased. The
energy of Captain Lawrence, however, combined with the
unwonted security under British rule, soon attracted new
settlers to this hitherto desolate region. Cultivation [rapidly
increased, trees began to fringe the waterside, trade collected
round the local centres; and Ferozepore, which in 1835 was
a deserted village, had in 1841 a population of neafly s,000
persons. Four years later, the first Sikh War broke out. The
enemy crossed the Sutlej opposite Ferozepore on December 16,
1845 ; and the battles of Mudki, Ferozeshih, Aliwal, and
Sobraon, the first two within the limits of the present District,
followed one another in rapid succession. Broken by their
defeats, the Sikhs once more retired across the boundary river,
pursued by the British army, which dictated the terms of peace
beneath the walls of Lahore. The whole cis-Sutlej possessions
of the Punjab kingdom passed into the hands of the East
India Company, and the little principality of Ferozepore be-
came at once the nucleus of an important British District.
The existing area was increased by subsequent additions, the
last of which took place in 1884. Since the successful close
of the first Sikh campaign, the peace of the District has never
been broken, except during the Mutiny of 1857. In May
of that year, one of the two native infantry regiments stationed
at Ferozepore broke out into revolt, and, in spite of a British
regiment and some Euvropean artillery, plundered and destroyed
the buildings of the cantonment. The arsenal and magazine,
however, which gave the station its principal importance, were
saved without loss of life to the European garrison. The
mutineers were subsequently dispersed. The detachment of
native infantry at Fizilka was at the same time disarmed ;
and the levies raised by General Van Cortlandt, and in Fazilka
by Mr. Oliver, succeeded in preserving the peace of the
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District, which on any show of weakness would have been in
revolt from one end to the other. In 1884, when Sirsa District
was broken up, the Zaksil of Fazilka was added to Ferozepore.
The The popuiation of the District at the last three enumerations
People.  was: (1881) 747,329, (1891) 886,676, and (1go1) 958,072,
dwelling in 8 towns and 1,503 villages. It increased by 8 per
cent. during the last decade, the increase being greatest in the
Fazilka fahs?! and least in Zira. It .is divided into the five’
taksils of FEROZEPORE, ZIrA, MocA, MUKTSAR, and FAziLka,
the head-quarters of each being at the place from which it is-
named. The chief towns aré’the municipalities of Feroze"
PORE, the head-guarters of the Dhuiet, m.ﬁm

Duarmkor, Zira, and Makay, ™ b it el
The following table shows the chief ‘statistics of population
in 1got :—
] e I988. .1 8
g [Nuberor| ¢ | B4 BE35sluay
g % Eo [SE2 R1gwag
Tohsil, £3 g g 3 3 § EdS o g "'g'g
2% 120 2| & |if |fEzes =§
< Ll -~ n-' &% T a
Feromepore. .| 480) 3| 3a0) 165,851 34551 — 77 | 10,159
Zira . -] 49%| 3| 342] 176,462 (3543 + 13 | 48
Moga. . .} 8oyl 1| 202245857 3046( + 43 {11,378
Muktsar . .| 037]| 1| 330]1732,445|1840] + 68 | 5,538
Fazilka .  .11,355| 11 319] 197,457 | 1457 | + 455 | 5379
District total {4,353 { 8 | 1,503 | 958,072 | 222.7] + 8.0 36,572

- Notre.—The figures for the areas of faksils are taken from revenue retams.  The

total District area is that given in the Census Report.
Muhammadans number 447,615, or 47 per cent. of the
total; Hindus, 279,099, or more than 29 per cent.; and
Sikbs, 228,355, or nearly 24 per cent. The language generally
spoken is Punjabi of the Milwai type, but on the borders of

Bikaner Bagri is spoken.

Castesand By far the largest tribe are the Jats or Jats (248,000). They
Soad  are of the Malwa type, described under LupHiANa DisTRiCT.
) The Arains (65,000) appear to be recent immigrants from
Jullundur and Lahore. Small to begin with, their holdings
in this District have become so subdivided, and their recent
extravagance has plunged them so heavily into debt, that they
present a complete contrast to their brethren in Ludhiana.
Rajputs number 82,000. The Dogars (16,000) are still mainly
a pastoral tribe ; they are noted cattle-thieves, and have been
described as feeble-minded, vain, careless, thriftless, very self-
indulgent, and incapable of serious effort. Gijars number
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14,000, The chief commercial tribes are the Aroras (24,000),
Baniss (18,000), and Khattris (11,000). Of the artisan and
menial tribes, the most important are the Chhimbas (washer-
men, 15,000), Chamirs (leather-workers, 32,000), Chihris
(scavengers, 95.000), Julihas (weavers, 23,000), Kumhirs
(potters, 35,000), Maichhis (fishermen, 20,000), Mochis
{cobblers, 23,000), Sondrs (goldsmiths, 8,000), Tarkhans (car-
penters, 31,000), Telis (oil-pressers, 16,000), and Lohars (iron-
smiths, 1o,000). There are 14,000 barbers and 131,000 village
minstrels, Ascetics include the Muhammadan Bodlas (r,2z00),
whose powers of healing by incantation are as highly esteemed
by the people, both Muhammadan and Hindu, as their curse is
dreaded. Brihmans number 18,000. The Biwaris (11,000),
Harnis, and Sansis (500) have been proclaimed as criminal
tribes. Mahtams number 14,000. About 6r per cent. of the
population are supported by agriculture. :

The Ludhiina American Presbyterian Mission has a statxon, Christian
occupied in 1871, at Ferozepore. The mission of the Presby- missions.
terian Church of the United States of America started work in
1881. The District in 1901 contained 240 native Christians,

The conditions of the District vary with the distance from General
the hills, the annual rainfall decreasing by about 4 inches :5:”“1“

al con-

every 20 miles, while in every part the light soils of the ditions.
uplands can resist drought much better than the clays of the

riverain tract. In the north-east the rainfall is sufficient for
ordinary tillage. In the centre the hard clay soils of the
riverain require water to grow even ordinary crops in dry years,

but the light upland soils do very well with the quantity of

rain they usually receive. In the south there is no unirri-

gated cultivation in the riverain, and in the uplands the
cultivation is extremely precarious,

The District is held mostly on the dkasyackara and patiidir: Cl;xef agri-
cultural

tenures, saminddri lands covering only 474 square miles. statistics
The area for which details are available from the revenue and princi-
records of 1903~4 is 4,078 square miles, as shown below ;—  Pal crops.
. . Caltivab}
Taksil. Total. | Cultivated, l Trrigated. | % SvENE
Ferozepore . . 486 371 144 65
Zira ., . . . 495 413 155 48
Moga . . . 8oy 756 268 16
Mouktsar . . . 935 8oy 449 73
Fazilka . . . | 1,358 1,097 © 595 193
Total | 4,078 | 3,444 | 1611 | 395
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Wheat and gram are the most important crops of the spring
harvest, occupying 784 and 841 square miles respectively in .
1903—4 ; barley covered 213 square miles. In the autumn
harvest, the great and spiked millets occupied 193 and
128 square miles respectively. Some rice (21 square miles) is
grown on the inundation canals, and maize (117 square miles)
in the riverain. The pulse moé% is the autumn crop of the
sandy tracts beneath the great bank. Little sugarcane or -
cotton is grown. ,

The cultivated area increased by 6 per cent. during the .
twelve years ending 1903-4, the increase being chiefly due
to the extension of canal-irrigation, Little has been done :
towards improving the quality of the crops grown, and experi-
ments tend to show that foreign seeds deteriorate after a year
or two. The chief improvement in agricultural practice is the
substitution of the spring cultivation for the less wvaluable
autumn crops; forty years ago the autumn harvest occupied
twice the area of the spring, and even now spring cultivation
in the south of the District is insignificant. Loans under the
Agriculturists’ Loans Act are -popular, and as a rule fmthfully
applied. During the five years ending 1904 Rs. 86,000 was
advanced under this Act, and Rs. 1,600 under the Land
Improvement Loans Act.

The cattle of the riverain are greatly inferior to the upland

;‘!‘l’ms’ and preed, which is an extremely fine one.  Before the introduction

eep.

Irrigation.

of British rule, the jungles round Muktsar were inhabited byan
essentially pastoral population. Camels are much used in the
sandy parts and the local breed is good. Ferozepore is an
important horse-breeding District. There are two breeds of
horses—a small wiry animal bred chiefly by the Dogars of the -
riverain, and a larger one bred inland. An important horse
and cattle fair is held at Jalilabad in the Mamdot estate in
February. Nine horse and eighteen donkey stallions are
kept by the Army Remount department, and two pony stal-
lions by the District board. Sheep are fairly numerous, and
the wool of the country between Fazilka and Bikaner is much
esteemed.

Of the total area cultivated in 1903—4, 1,611 square miles,
or 47 per cent., were classed as irrigated. Of this area,
170 square miles were irrigated from wells, 79 from wells and
canals, 1,361 from canals, and 519 acres from streams and
tanks. In addition, 68 square miles, or z per cent., were
subject to inundation from the Sutlej. The high lands of the
south-east are irrigated by the Abohar branch of the Sirhind
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Canal, while the riverain is watered by the Grey Inundation
Canals. In the riverain wells are worked by Persian wheels, in
the high lands by the rope and bucket. In both cases bullocks
are used. There were 8,604 wells in use in 1904, besides
808 temporary wells, lever wells, and water-lifts.

Forests covering an area of 6 square miles are managed by Forests
the Deputy-Commissioner. Small groves of trees are generally ;f’iﬁm‘s_‘
found round wells ; but there are no large plantations, and the
scarcity of wood is felt to a considerable extent. Kankar is
the only mineral product of value.

The manufactures are confined almost entirely to the supply Arts and
of local! wants. Coarse cloths and blankets are woven from zrm::&c'
home-grown cotton and wool, and the carts made locally are
of exceptional excellence. Mats are woven of Indian hemp
and false hemp. Excellent lacquer-work on wood is pro-
duced. The arsenal .at Ferozepore employed 1,199 hands
in 1904.

The District exports wheat and other articles of agricultural Commerce
produce, which are to a great extent carried by the pro-2°dtmde
ducers direct to markets in Ludhiina, Amritsar, Bahawalpur,

Lahore, Jullundur, and Hoshiarpur, The chief imports are
sugar, cotton, sesamum, metals, piece-goods, indigo, tobacco,
salt, rice, and spices. - Ferozepore town is the chief trade centre.

Ferozepore town lies on the North-Western Railway from Railways
Lahore to Bhatinda, and the Fazilka fa4si/ is.traversed by the 2nd roads. -
Southern Punjab Railway. Fizilka town is also connected
with Bhatinda by a branch of the Rajputina-Malwi (narrow
gauge) Railway, which runs parallel to the North-Western
Railway from Bhatinda to Kot Kapiira. A railway running
from Ludhifina through Ferozepore and Fizilka to join the
Southern Punjab Railway at M‘'Leodganj bhas recently been
opened. Ferozepore town lies on the important metalled road
from Lahore to Ludhiina. The total length of metalled roads
in the District is 81 miles and of unmetalled roads 828 miles.

Of the former, 57 miles are under the Public Works depart-
ment, and the rest under the District board. The Abohar
branch of the Sirhind Canal and the Sutlej Navigation Canal
form a waterway connecting Ferozepore town with Ripar.
Below its junction with the Beas, the Sutlej is navigable all the
year round. Little use, however, is made of these means of
water communication. There are twenty ferries on the Sutlej.

The District was visited by famine in 1759-60, and again in Famine.
1783-4, the year of the terrible ¢ka/isa famine, when rain
failed for three successive seasons and wheat sold at a seer
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and 4 quarter per rupee. Famine again occurred in 1803-4,
1817-8, 1833-4, 18423, 18489, 1856~7, and 1860-1. In
1868-9 there was famine, and Rs. 16,739 was spent in relief.
The next famine was in 1896—7, by which time the extension of
canal-rrigation and the improvement of communications had
to a great extent prevented distress becoming really acute. Food
for human beings was not scarce, as the stocks of grain were
ample, but a good deal of suffering was caused by high prices.
The total amount spent on relief was Rs. 33,952, and the
greatest number relieved in any week was 4,149. In 1899-
1goo scarcity was again felt. The greatest number on test works
was 2,296, and the expenditure was. Rs, 3 Hhich
Rs. 61,435 was for works of permanent utility %

The District is in charge of a Deputy-Commissioner, aided
by six Assistant or Extra Assistant Commissioners, of whom
one is in charge of the Fa az1lka. subdivision and one in charge
of the District treasury. It is divided into the five faksils of
Ferozepore, Zira, Moga, Muktsar, and Fizilka, each under
a taksilddr and a nax}-tahszlddr, the Fazilka faksi/ forming
a subdivision.

The Deputy-Commissioner as District Mag\strate is respon-
sible for criminal justice. Civil judicial work is under a Dis-
trict Judge, and both officers are subordinate to the Divisional
Judge of the Ferozepore Civil Division, who is also Sessions
Judge. There are four Munsifs, one at head-quarters and one
at each outlying raksi/, except Fazilka. Dacoity and murder
are especially common in the District. The most frequent
forms of crime are cattle-theft and burglary. ‘

Practically nothing is known of the revenue systems which
obtained in Ferozepore previous to annexation. The Ain-i-
Akbari mentions Ferozepore as the capital of a large pargana
in the Multin Si#dak The Lahore and Kapirthala govern-
ments seem to have taken their revenue in cash. They fixed
the amount for short periods only, and sometimes collected in
kind. From annexation onwards the revenue history has to
be considered in three parts. The District proper is divided
into two portions by the State of Faridkot, while the revenue
history of the Fazilka faksi, which was added to the District
in 1884, is distinct from either of those portions and possesses
different natural features. Several summary assessments were
made from annexation to 1852, when the regular settlement
was commenced. This assessment, which increased the de-
mand of the summary settlement by only 1 per cent., was
sanctioned for a term of thirty years. The Muktsar /a/%si/ was
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annexed in 1855 and settled summarily. This settlement ran
on till 1868, when (together with the Mamdot territory annexed
in 1864) the faksil was regularly settled. The northern part
of the District, including the Moga, Zira, and Ferozepore
taksils, was resettled between 1884 and 1888. Besides raising
the demand from Rs. 4,80,000 to Rs. 7,30,000, a water rate
was imposed of 6 and 12z annas per ghumao (five-sixths of an
acre) on crops irrigated by the Grey Inundation Canals. This
rate brings in about Rs. 30,000 a year. The Muktsar Zaksi/
was reassessed immediately afterwards, and the revenue
raised from Rs. 1,76,000 to Rs. 2,65,000, excluding the canal
rate, which was calculated to bring in a further Rs. 20,000.

The Fazilka faksi/ was summarily settled after annexation,
and the regular settlement was made in 1852-64. The
revised settlement made in 1881 increased the revenue from
Rs. 55,000 to Rs. g4,000. At the same time 51 villages on
the Sutlej were placed under a fluctuating assessment, based
on crop rates varying from Rs. 1-8-0 to 8 annas per acre.
The faksil came again under assessment in February, 1900,
when the revenue was increased by Rs. 71,000, excluding
a large enhancement of occupiers’ rates on canalirrigated
lands.

The rates of the present settlement range from R, o-14-3 to
Rs. 1-6~3 on ‘wet’ land, and from 7 annas to R. o-13-10
on ‘dry’ land.

The collections of land revenue alone and of total revenue
are shown below, in thousands of rupees :— *

1880-1. 1890-1. 19001, 1903-4.

Land revenue . .| 5,19* 8,71 9,01 11,04
Total revenue . o] T34* 13,97 15,13 17,78

* For the District as then constituted, exclnding the Fazilka taksil.

The District possesses six municipalities: FEROZEPORE, Local and
FaziLkA, MUKTSAR, DHARMEOT, ZiRA, and MaKEU. Outside Bunicipal.
these, local affairs are managed by the District board, which
had in 1903-4 an income of Rs. 1,73,000. The expenditure
was Rs. 1,61,000, public works being the largest item.

The regular police force consists of 679 of all ranks, including Police and
59 cantonment and g1 municipal police, under a Superintendent jails.
who usually has four inspectors to assist him. The village and
town watchmen number 1,528. There are 18 police stations,

4 outposts, and 13 road-posts. The District jail at head-
quarters has accommodation for 424 prisoners.
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Education. Ferozepore stands fourteenth among the twenty-eight
Districts of the Province in respect of the literacy of its
population. In 1gor1 the proportion of literate persons was
3-8 per cent. (6.7 males and o-3 females). The number of
pupils under instruction was 2,942 in 1880-1, 5,446 in 1890—1,
6,113 in 1900-1, and 6,387 in 1903~4. In the last year there
were 10 secondary and 93 primary (public) schools, and 7
advanced and go elementary (private) schools, with 473 girls
in the public and 289 in the private schools. The District
possesses an Anglo-vernacular high school maintained by the
Ferozepore municipality, the management of which was ta.ken
over by the Educational department in 1904, and two
high schools—the Har Bhagwin Das Mem 1 Wi §
at Ferozepore and the Dev Dharm high school at Mogn. 1€
also has 7 middle and 93 primary schools under the depart-
ment, and 2 middle and g5 primary schools supported mainly
by private enterprise. Indigenous education, however, is on
the decline. The girls’ schools, though few, show more signs
of life than they did ten years ago, and. there is heaithy
competition between the small mission school for girls and
that of the Dev Sam3j. The amount spent on education in
1903—4 Was Rs. 72,000, of which the District board contributed
Rs. 25,300; the Government grant was Rs. §,000. :

Hospitals ~ Besides the civil hospital and a mission hospital at Feroze-

;“egsgﬁes pore, tl?e Di_stxict contains seven outlying dispensa.ries.. These
institutions in 19o4 treated a total of g¢7,612 out-patients and
3,067 in-patients, and 7,781 operations were performed. The
expenditure was nearly Rs. 23,000, of which Rs. 10,000 was
derived from municipal and Rs. 12,000 from Local funds.

Vaccina- The number of successful vaccinations in 1go3—4 was

tion. . .

24,321, representing 26 per 1,000 of the population.

[E. B. Francis, District Gaszetteer (1888-9), Seftlement
Report of the Northern Part of the District (1893), Settlement
Report of Mukisar and llgka Mamdot (1892), and Customary
Law of the Taksils of Moga, Zira, and Ferosepore (1890);
- J. Wilson, General Code of Tribal Custom in the Sirsa District
(1883); C. M. King, Settlement Report of Sirsa and Fazilka
Taksils (1905).]

Ferozepore Tahsil.—7uAsi/ of Ferozepore District,
Punjab, lying between 30° 44 and 31° 3” N. and 74° 25’
and 74° 57 E., with an area of 486 square miles. It is
bounded on the north-west by the Sutlej, which divides it from
Lahore District. The lowlands along the river are ungated
by the Grey Canals, but the greater part of the Zaksi/ lies in
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an upland plateau of sandy loam. The population in rgorx
was 165,851, compared with 179,606 in 1891. FEROZEPORE
(population, 49,341) is the faksi! head-quarters. It also
contains the town of MuUDKT (2,977) and 320 villages. The
land revenue and cesses amounted in 1903~4 to 2.1 lakhs.
The battle-fields of FErozesHAH and MUDKI are in this faksi/.

Zira Tahsil. —-—Talml of Ferozepcre sttnct, Pun]ab lying
between 30 52’ and 31° 9’ N. and 74° 47" and 75° 26' E,,
with an area of 495 square miles. It is bounded on the north
by the Sutlej, which divides it from Lahore and Amritsar
Districts. The natural divisions of the country are the Bet,
or alluvial lands along the river, irrigated by the Grey Canals;
the Rohi or upland plateau, with a good loam soil ; and a long’
narrow alluvial tract of miore recent formation than the Rohi
proper, between the Bet and the Rohi. The population in
19or was 176,462, compared with 174,138 in 1891. The
head-quarters are at the town of Zira (population, 4,001).
The faksil also contains the towns of MaknU (1,355) and
Duaruxor (6,73 1), and 342 villages. The land revenue and
cesses amounted in 1go3—4 to 2-7 lakhs.

Moga Tahsil.— Zzhsi/ of Ferozepore District, Punjab, lying
between 30° 8’ ‘and 30° 54” N. and 74° 54" and 75° 26’ E,,
with an area of 807 square miles. It is bounded on the south
by Patiila, and on the west by the Faridkot State. Tt lies
almost wholly in the upland plateau known as the Rodhi,
which has a good loam soil and is irrigated by the Sirhind
Canal. The population in 1901 was 245,857, compared with
235,806 in 1891. Moga (population, 6,725) is the head-
quarters. The faAsi/ also contains 2oz villages. The land
revenue and cesses amounted in ygoz—4 to 47 lakhs. ‘The
village of MAHRAy is of some religious importance.

Muktsar Tahsil (Muktesar).— Taksil of Ferozepore Dis-
trict, Punjab, lying between 30° ¢/ and 30° 54 N. and
74° 4’ and 74° 52’ E., with an area of 935 square miles. It
is bounded on the north-west by the Sutlej, which divides it
from Montgomery and Lahore Districts, on the east by Faridkot,
and on the south-cast by Patidla. On the west is a belt of
alluvial land along the left bank of the Sutlej, irrigated by the
Grey Canals. The middle portion of the /aAst/ is a level plain
with a firm soil, while north and south the country is sandy.
The central and southern portions are irrigated by the Sirhind
Canal. The population in 1gor was 172,445, compared with
161,492 in 1891. The head-quarters are at the town of
MuxTsar (population, 6,389). The faksi/ also contains 320

PUN- L G g
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villages. The land revenue and cesses amounted in rgo3-4
to 2-7 lakhs.

Fazilka Tahsil.—724si/ and subdivision of Ferozepore
Dismct, Pun;ab, lymg between 29° 55" and 30° 34’ N. and
73 ‘52" and 74° 43" E., with an area of 1,355 square miles. It
is bounded north-west by the Sutlej, which divides it from
the Dipalpur #4si/ of Montgomery District, and east by the
Patizla State. ' It is divided into three well-marked natural

divisions : a narrow low-lying belt along the Sutlej, a somewhat |

broader strip of older alluvium, and a plain broken by sand-
hills, which extends to the borders of Bikaner and is irrigated
by the Sirhind Canal. The population in 1gor was 197,451,
compared with 135,634 in 18gr. It contains the town o£

FaziLKA (population, 8,505), the head-quarters, and’ 319 o

villages. The land revenue and cesses amounted in 1903-4
to 2-2 lakhs.

Mamdot Estate (Muhammadot).—Estate in the Ferozepore,
Muktsar, and Fizlka faksils of Ferozepote District, Punjab.
Area, 83 square miles of proprietary land, with 309 held in
jagir. It is held by the minor Nawab of Mamdot, Ghulim
Kutb-ud-din Khbin, a Pathan, whose ancestor Kutb-ud-din
Khan held the principality of KasGRr, but was expelled from
it by Ranjit Singh in 1807 and retired to Mamdot, which he
had conquered from the Raikot chief in 180o. His son
Jamal-ud-din Khan held Mamdot as a fief of the Lahore king-
dom till 1848, when he received the title of Nawib, with the
powers of a ruling chief, from the British Government ; but the
powers thus conferred were abused by Jamil-ud-din Khin, and
were therefore withdrawn, the State being annexed to British
territory in 1855. It was, however, subsequently conferred as
an estate on the Nawab’s younger brother Jaldl-ud-din Khin,
who had rendered good service in 1848 and 1857. Jalal-ud-
din died in 1875, leaving a minor son, by name Nizim-ud-din
Khin, and the estate was managed by the Court of Wards
until 1884, when the ward came of age and took charge of it.
He died in 1891, leaving an infant son and the estate heavily
involved in debt. It is now again under control of the Court
of Wards, and the young Nawib is being educated at the
Aitchison College, Lahore. The gross income of the estate,
‘which is the finest in the Punjab, is now Rs. 3,80,000. It
owes its prosperity mainly to the Grey Canals.

Abohar.—Ancient town in the Fazilka sa/s#/ of Ferozepore
District, Punjab, situated in 30°¢’ N. and 74° 16' E. Popu-
lation (1901), 5,439. Tradition ascribes its foundation to
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Jaura, a grandson of the legendary Bbatti king, Riji Rasilu,
and it was the capital of Bhattizna. It was named Uboh-har,
or the ‘pool of Uboh,’ after Jaura’s wife. - It lay on the ancient
high road from Multin to Delhi, and was visited by Ibn
Batiita {A.D. 1332). In it was resident the family of Shams-i-
Sir~ " fif, the author of the 7a@»ikks-Firos Shiki, whose grand-
father was collector of the district, then a dependency of
Dipalpur. The place is now of no importance. It has a
Government dispensary. .
- Dharmkot.—Town in the Zira Zaksi! of Ferozepore Dzstnct,
Punjab, situated in 30° 59" N. and 75° 14’ E., 41 miles east of
Ferozepore. Population (1gor), 6,731. The town was origin-
ally known as Kotalpur, but was renamed after its occupation
in 1760 by the Sikh chieftain, Tara Singh, of the Dallewala
confederacy, who built a fort, now destroyed. The municipality
was created in 1867. The income and expenditure during the
ten years ending rgoz-3 averaged Rs. 3,600. In 1903-4 the
income was Rs. 3,900, chiefly from octroi ; and the expenditure
was Rs. 3,500. Dharmkot being situated near the grand trunk
road, with a good bazar, and being the only town in the
immediate neighbourhood, a considerable trade is carried on
in piece-goods, brought to the market via Ludhidna, and in
grain. The town possesses a vernacular middle school main-
tained by the municipality, and a Government dispensary.
Fazilka Town.—Head-quarters of the subdivision and
taksi! of the same name, Ferozepore District, Punjab, situ-
ated in 30° 33’ N. and 74° 3" E., and the terminus of the
Fazilka extension of the Rijputina-Milwia Railway. It bhas
been connected with Ludhizina, Ferozepore, and the Southern
Punjab Railway by a line recently. constructed. Population
(1go1), 8,505. It was founded about 1846 on the ruins of a
deserted village, named after a Wattu chief, Fazil. It is a
considerable grain mart and contains a wool press. The
municipality was created in 1864. The income during the ten
years ending 19o2-3 averaged Rs. 21,300, and the expenditure
Rs. 22,400. In 19034 the income was Rs. 16,000, chiefly
derived from octroi; and the expenditure was Rs. 18,500.
The town has an Anglo-vernacular middle school maintained
by the municipality, and a Government dispensary.
Ferozepore Town.— Head-quarters of the District and
tahsil of Ferozepore, Punjab, situated on the old high bank of
the Sutlej, in 30° 58’ N. and 74° 37" E., on the North-Western
Railway ; distant by rail from Calcutta 1,198 miles, from Bom-
bay 1,080, and from Karachi 788. Population (19o1), with can-
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tonment, 49,341, including 24,314 Muhammadans, 21,304 Hin-
dus, 1,665 Sikhs, and 1,753 Christians. The town was founded,
according to tradition, in the time of Firoz Shah III, but was in
a declining state at thé period of British annexation, the popu-
lation in 1838 being only 2,732. It was occupied by the British

in 1835, on the death of Sardarmi Lachhman Kunwar. It is now

the seat of a thriving commerce, due principally to the exertions
of Sir H. Lawrence, who induced many native traders to settle
in the city, and more lately to the enterprise of an Enghsh

merchant, .who has erected & powerful cotton press in the

vicinity. The main streets are wide and well paved, while
a circular road which girdles the wall is lined by the gardens of
wealthy residents. The memorial church, in honour of those

who fell in the Sutlej campaign of 1845-6, was destroyed .
during - the - Mutiny, but since restored. A Sikh temple in

honour of the men of the 36th Sikhs who.fell holding Fort

Saragarhi and in the sortie from Fort Gulistan in 1897, erected

by private ‘subscriptions collected by the Piomeer newspaper,

and opened in 1903 by the Lieutenant-Governor of the Punjab,

testifies to the loyalty and valour of our former foes.

Ferozepore has a large and prosperous grain market, but is
chiefly important for its cantonment, the population of which
in 1g9ox was 25,866. One of the two arsenals in the Province
is situated at Ferozepore, which in 1904 employed 1,199 hands.
The garrison includes a battery of field artillery and a company
of garrison artillery, a British infantry regiment, one regiment
of native cavalry, and two battalions of native infantry. The
income and expenditure from the cantonment funds during the
ten years ending 1902-3 averaged Ks. 47,000.

The municipality was created in 1867. The municipal re-
ceipts during the ten years ending 19023 averaged Rs. 50,900,
and the expenditure Rs. 49,000. In 1903-4 the income was
Rs. 52,700, chiefly derived.from octroi ; and the expenditure
was Rs. 45,100, including conservancy (Rs. 7,700), education
(Rs. 11,700), medical (Rs. 8,400), public safety (Rs. 7,200), and
administration (Rs. 5,500). The chief educational institutions
are two Anglo-vernacular high schools, one of which, maintained
by the municipality, was taken over by the Educational depart-
ment in 1904, and an aided Anglo-vernacular middle school in
cantonments. There is a civil hospital. The Ludhiana
American Presbyterian Mission maintains a hospital for males
and a small school for girls.

Ferozeshah (Phrarishakr). — Battle-field in the District and
taksi! of Ferozepore, Punjab, situated in 30° 53" N. and
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247 297 about 12 miles from the left bank of the Sutlej. It
is famgps for the attack made upon the formidably entrenched
Sikh gamp, on December 21, 1845, by the British forces under
Six Hugh Gough and Sir Henry Hardinge. After two days’ severe
fighting, the entrenchments were carried and the enemy com-
pletely routed, but not without heavy losses on the part of the
conquerors. No traces of the earthworks now remain, but a
monument erected upon the spot perpetuates the memory of
the officers and men: who fell in the engagement. The real
name of the place, as called by the people, is Phartishahr,
corrupted into the historical name Ferozeshah.

Mahraj.—A collection of four large villages in the Moga
taksil of Ferozepore District, Punjab, situated in 30° 19" N.
and 75° 14" E. Itis the head-quarters of a pargana, beld almost
entirely by the Mahrajki section (a/) of the Sidhu Jats, the clan
of which the Phalkin families of Patiila, Nabha, and Jind are
another section. A great excavation, from which was taken earth
to build the town, is regarded as a sacred spot, offerings being
made monthly to the guardian priest. The Mahrajkians, who
own the surrounding country as jagirddrs, form a distinct
community : physically robust, but litigious, insubordinate, and
addicted to excessive opium-eating. Population (1g901), 5,780,
The place possesses a vernacular middle school and a
Government dispensary.

Makhu.—Town in the Zira Zaksi/ of Ferozepore District,
Punjab, situated in 31°6’N. and 75° 4’ E., 30 miles north-east
of Ferozepore town. Population (1g01), 1,355. The munici-
pality was created in 1867. The income during the ten years
ending 1902-3 averaged Rs. 1,100, and the expenditure
Rs. 1,000. In 1903—4 the income was Rs. 1,500, chiefly from
octroi ; and the expenditure was Rs. 1,000.

Mamdot Village.—Village in Ferozepore District, Punjab,
and former capital of a State, situated in 30° §3° N. and 74° 26’
E., on the open plain, about 2 miles south of the Sutlej.
Population (1got1), 2,631. The walls rise to a height of 50
feet, and have a rectangular form, with a round tower at each
corner and in the middle of each face. More than two-thirds
of the fort was carried away in 1877-8 by the Sutlej, and a
branch of that river now flows under the walls of the remainder.
Anciently known as Muhammadot, it formed the centre of an
i/aka, which became depopulated during the Mughal period
and was occupied by the Dogars about 1750. Shortly after-
wards, the Dogars made themselves independent, but were soon
reduced to subjection by Sardar Subba Singh, a Sikh chieftain.
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With the assistance of the Rai of Raikot, they expelled the
Sikhs; but the Rai made himself supreme at Mamdot, and the
Dogars then revolted with the aid of Nizim-ud-din and Kutb-
ud-din of Kasiir. Nizimud-din was murdered by his three
brothers-inlaw, whom he had ousted from their jagirs. Kutb-
ud-din eventually submitted to Ranjit Singh, relinquishing
Kasilr, but retaining Mamdot in jagsr subject to the service of
100 horse. Nizim-ud-din’s son received a corresponding sdgir
in Gogaira, but laid claim to Mamdot. With the Dogars’ aid he
expelled Kutb-ud-din, but was finally recalled by the Maharijs,
who confirmed Jamal-ud-din, son of Kutb-ud-din, in the suc-
cession. Jamalud-din sided openly with the Sikhs in 1845,
but rendered certain services towards the. close of the campaign
to the British Government, which requited him by maintaining
him in possession of Mamdot as a protected chief with the
title ‘of Nawab, Jamal-ud-din, however, was guilty of serious
misgovernment, and the Dogars especially, having incurred his
resentment, suffered grave oppression. The British Govern-
ment. therefore, after an . inquiry, deposed him in 1858, and
annexed his territory. His estates were in 1864 conferred on
his brother Jalalud.din to the exclusion of his sons. The
present Nawiab, Ghulim Kutb-ud-din, who succeeded in 1891,
is the grandson of Jalal-ud-din.

Moga Town.—Head-quarters of the saAsz! of the same
name in Ferozepore District, Punjab, situated in 30° 49 N.
and 75° 10’ E., 35 miles south-east of Ferozepore town on the
Ferozepore road. Population (190r1), 6,725. The Tayyan
fair is held here in the month of Chet (March-April). The
chief educational institutions are the Dev Samij Anglo-ver-
nacular high school (unaided), and an Anglo-vemacular middle
school maintained by the mumcxpahty There is also a
‘Government dxspensa.ry

Mudki.—Town in the Distnct and Ialml of Ferozepore,
Punjab, situated in 30° 47" N.and 74° 55" E., on the road
between Ferozepore and Ludhiina. . Population (xgo:), 2,977
It is memorable for the battle which inaugurated the first Sikh
War, fought on December 18, 1845, on the plain 26 miles
south of the Sutlej. Two days before this battle, the Sikhs
had crossed the boundary river at Ferozepore. They were met
by a much smaller British force at Mudki, and driven from:
their position, with the loss of 17 guns, after & hard contest,
in which the British lost a'large proportion of officers. Monu-
ments have been erected on the battle-field in honour of
those who fell, . M
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Muktsar Town (Mukfesar).—Head-quarters of the taks#/
of the same name in Ferozepore District, Punjab, situated in
30° 28’ N. and 74° 317 E,, on the Fizlka extension of the
Rijputina-Milwi Railway. Population (1g9o1), 6,389. Muktsar
is the largest town and principal trade mart in the west of
Ferozepore District. Apart from its commercial importance,
the town is chiefly noticeable for a great Sikh festival, which
takes place in January. It lasts for three days, and com-
memorates a battle fought in 1705-6 by Guri Govind Singh
against the pursuing imperial forces. There is a large tank
in which pilgrims bathe, begun by the Maharija Ranjit Singh,
and continved and completed by the chiefs of Patiala, Jind,
Nabha, and Faridkot. The municipality was created in 1864.
The income during the ten years ending 1902—3 averaged
Rs. 6,100, and the expenditure Rs. 4,900. In 1903~4 the
income was Rs. 6,800, chiefly from octroi ; and the expenditure
was Rs. 6,200. There is a Government dispensary.

Zira Town.—Head-quarters of the /a/ksi/ of the same name
in Ferozepore District, Punjab, situated in 30° 59’ N. and
74° 59’ E., 24 miles east of Ferozepore town. Population (rgo1),
4,001. The municipality was created in 1867. The income
during the ten years ending 19o2—3 averaged Rs. 4,200, and the
expenditure Rs. 3,900. In 1903~4 the income was Rs. 4,800,
chiefly from octroi ; and the expenditure was Rs. 3,400. The
town is of no commercial importance. It has a vemacular
middle school maintained by the municipality, and a Govern-
. ment dispensary.



